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Abbreviations

ABAC  APEC Business 
Advisory Council

ABG  Autonomous 
Bougainville 
Government

ADB  Asian Development 
Bank

AFI  Alliance for Financial 
Inclusion

AG  Assistant Governor

AML/CFT  Anti-Money Laundering 
and Counter Financing 
of Terrorism Act

APEC  Asia Pacific 
Economic Forum

ATM  Automated Teller 
Machine

BDS  Business 
Development Skills

BPNG  Bank of Papua 
New Guinea

BSP  Bank South Pacific

BTCA  Better Than 
Cash Alliance

CEFI  Center for Excellence 
in Financial Inclusion

COVID-19 Coronavirus Disease

DAL  Department of 
Agriculture and 
Livestock

DEFINE  Development Financial 
Markets for Enterprises 
in the Pacific Initiative

DFAT  Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade 
(Australian Government)

DFS  Digital Financial Services

DoE  Department of Education

DoF  Department of Finance

DoT  Department of Treasury

DNPM  Department of National 
Planning and Monitoring

EFTPOS Electronic Funds Transfer 
at Point of Sale

FCP  Financial Consumer 
Protection

FPDA  Fresh Produce 
Development Agency

FI  Financial Inclusion

FMM  Finance Ministers 
Meeting

FMP  Finance Ministers Process

FSSR  Financial Services 
Sector Review

FSDS  Financial Sector 
Development Strategy

GESI  Gender Equity and 
Social Inclusion

GF  Green Finance

GGGI  Global Green 
Growth Institute

GHG  Green House Gases

GoPNG  Government of Papua 
New Guinea
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IFAD  International Fund for 
Agriculture Development

IGFP  Green & Sustainable 
Green Finance Policy

IBBM  Institute of Banking and 
Business Management

IBS  Institute of Business 
Studies University

IFAD  International Fund for 
Agriculture Development

IFC International Finance 
Corporation

ICCC  Independent Consumer and 
Competition Commission

ICT  Information and 
Communication Technology

IMF  International Monetary Fund

KATS  Kina Automated 
Transfer System

LWA  Lenoka Women’s 
Association

MEP  Microfinance 
Expansion Project

MFI  Microfinance Institution

MOA  Memorandum of Agreement

MOU  Memorandum of 
Understanding

MVF  Market for Village 
Farmers Project

MSE  Medium Sector Enterprise

MSME  Medium Small Micro 
Enterprise

NEC National Executive Council

NFIS  National Financial 

Inclusion Strategy

NGO  Non-Government 
Organisation

NIEP  National Informal 
Economic Policy

MNO  Mobile Network 
Operator

PNG  Papua New Guinea

QPS  Quarterly Performance 
Snapshot

RSF  Risk Share Facility

S&L Savings & Loans Society

SEACEN  South East Asian 
Central Banks

SME Small Medium 
Enterprises

ToT  Training of Trainers

UNCDF  United Nations Capital 
Development Fund

VLIT  Village Farmers 
Livelihood Training

WeFi  Women’s Entrepreneurs 
Finance Initiative
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Message from the Chairman 

It is my pleasure as Chairman of 
the Board of CEFI to present my 
thoughts as a forward to this Annual 
Report. This report highlights the 
work and performance of CEFI 
in 2021 as it continued its efforts 
to champion financial inclusion 
expansion in Papua New Guinea 
(PNG), particularly with the use of 
innovation.

Improving access to quality financial 
services for the people of Papua 
New Guinea (PNG) has remained 
a priority and work in progress 
for the Center of Excellence in 
Financial Inclusion (CEFI). We near 
a decade in our pursuit to expand 
financial inclusion to the people of 
PNG, many of whom still make up 
the eighty percent (80%) of those 
living in rural areas.

December 2020 marked the end 
of the National Financial Inclusion 
Strategy 2016-2020 (NFIS); the 
second since the inception of CEFI. 

I take this opportunity to thank 
all our par tners, stakeholders, 
staf f, and management of CEFI 
for suppor t ing i t s  success ful 
implementation. More people 
now have access to f inancial 
services. More women now have 
bank accounts. We strengthened 
important relationships as well as 
forged important partnerships, 
b o t h  d o m e s t i c a l l y  a n d 
internationally, to ensure more 
Papua New Guineans participated 

meaningfully in developing the PNG 
economy. I am grateful and proud 
that CEFI has performed its mandate 
with distinction to coordinate all 
financial inclusion initiatives in the 
country over the last four years.

Accelerat ion in  adopt ing and 
embracing innovat ion in 2021 
signifies the direction CEFI is leaning 
toward to progress financial inclusion 
in the country. The Institute of 
Banking and Business Management 
(IBBM) partnership to Introduce on-
line Microfinance training is a great 
example of CEFI’s focus. The Finance 
Finder tool from Business Link Pacific 
that enables entrepreneurs to find 
financial services easily again points 
to that move towards harnessing the 
benefits of digital technologies. I’m 
excited about the future of financial 
services in PNG as CEFI explores 
and dives deeper into the Financial 
Technologies (FinTech) space.

The review and development of the 
next National Financial Inclusion 
Strategy (NFIS 2023 – 2027) was an 
important priority for CEFI in 2021. 
I acknowledge the leadership and 
direction provided by the Financial 
Inclusion Strategy Formulation 
Committee (FISFC). Comprising key 
stakeholders from Government and 
technical experts from BPNG, the 
Banking and Finance industry and 
CEFI, the Committee Membership 
guided the formulation of financial 
inclusion strategies for the next four 

BENNY POPOITAI, MBE 
CHAIRMAN, 

& GOVERNOR, BPNG
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years. The successes and challenges 
of the last NFIS coupled with our 
aspirations for financial inclusiveness 
in the future have culminated into 
the design of the next strategy.

CEFI continued to form and build 
strong alliances with impor tant 
s t akeholder s  and par tner s  in 
all sectors throughout the year. 
Ef fective par tnerships have and 
continue to fuel our financial literacy 
t ra ining dr ives ,  improvement 
of access to f inancial  ser vices 
pursuits, and embrace of digital 
transformation to accelerate financial 
inclusion expansion. Public Private 
Par tnerships are of paramount 
importance to our progress.

To conclude, I wish to acknowledge 
and thank all CEFI Board Members 

BENNY POPOITAI, MBE 
CHAIRMAN, 

& GOVERNOR, BPNG

for your commitment, continuous 
leader ship  and direc t ion in 
progressing CEFI’s mandate in 
2021. I also thank members of our 
NFIS Working Groups and various 
committees for your continuous 
participation and expert insights.

Furthermore, I extend my gratitude 
to  a l l  our  par tner  f inanc ia l 
institutions for driving the financial 
i n c l u s i o n  a g e n d a ,  p r o g r a m 
partners for your continuous 
support including funding, our 
important government agency 
p a r t n e r s ,  N o n - G o v e r n m e n t 
Organizations (NGO), civil society, 
and all stakeholders for taking this 
journey with us to reduce poverty 
in PNG through financial inclusion 
initiatives that improve access to 
affordable financial services to the 
people of PNG.
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Message from the Executive Director

of the National Financial Inclusion 
Strategy 2016 – 2020 (NFIS). The 
findings of the review culminated 
in the development of the third 
and next NFIS for the country. 

The new strategy will focus on 
three key priority areas – 

(a)   the implementation of the 
strategy;

(b)  the  ro l l  ou t  of  f inanc ia l 
i n c l u s i o n  i n  s e l e c t e d 
provinces and Districts under 
the Provincial Government 
E n g a g e m e n t  R o l l  o u t 
Program; and 

(c)   the inclusion of f inancial 
educ at ion into  the core 
curriculum of the Department 
of Education for primary and 
secondar y schools in the 
country.

Implement at ion  of  f inanc ia l 
inclusion strategies is ongoing. 

Our special projects, financial 
literacy training, and financial 
inclusion ac tivit ies continued 
throughout the year. To date, 
CEFI  has  prov ided f inanc ial 
literacy training to over 230,000 
participants, 47% of which have 
been women.  I  applaud the 
work of our team, stakeholders, 
and respec t ive  par tner s  for 
their continuous commitment. 
Momentum should pick up after 
the launching of the next NFIS 
2023-2027 in the fourth quarter 
of 2022.

We continued to achieve strategic 
milestones as the grip of Covid19 
effects eased in 2021. The “new 
normal” brought about by the 
Covid19 pandemic increased our 
interest in innovative approaches 
to progress financial inclusion in 
PNG. 

S e v e r a l  p a r t n e r s h i p s  w e r e 
a l i g n e d  w i t h  o u r  f o c u s  o n 
digital transformation in 2021. 
Collaborations with the DEFINE 
Initiative, Asian Development Bank 
(ADB) and Women Entrepreneurs 
F i n a n c e  I n i t i a t i v e  ( We - F i ) , 
Business Link Pacific, and the 
Institute of Banking and Business 
Management (IBBM) all centered 
around innovative approaches to 
delivering financial services and 
expanding financial inclusion.

Financial Inclusion indicators 
continued to increase throughout 
the year signif ying continued 
effort and commitment by CEFI 
and its partners and stakeholders 
to financial inclusion expansion. 
The year saw Mobile Financial 

Service Accounts reach a million 
users - a major highlight that also 
supports our interest in pursuing 
digital financial services in the 
country.

The development of a new NFIS 
(2023-2027) was a major priority 
for CEFI in 2021. 

The Papua New Guinea National 
Research Institute (PNG NRI) was 
engaged to do a diagnostic review 

GARIMA TONGIA
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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Establishing new partnerships and 
strengthening current relationships 
continued to provide platforms to 
progress our mission in 2021. 

The commitment by seven financial 
institutions to support the Market to 
Village Farmers (MVF) initiative was 
a major highlight for CEFI in the year. 
In the public sector, we increased the 
number of Provincial Governments 
we work with to expand financial 
inclusion in provinces to four (4) with 
the inclusion of the Milne Bay and 
New Ireland Provinces. They join 
the East New Britain and West New 
Britain provinces on our Provincial 
Government Engagement program.  

Agreements with the Department of 
Community Development (DCDC), 
the Depar tment of  Educat ion, 
and the PNG National Research 
Institute (PNG NRI) provided new 
opportunities to help more people 
become financially li terate and 
access f inancial services in the 
country.

Our work on promoting financial 
inclusion in PNG has gained much 
interest and triggered important 
collaborations. 

However, some initiatives born 
from our partnerships will require 
additional resources to support 
implementat ion. This includes 
important work we are pursuing 
with the Department of Education 
to incorporate financial education 
into primary and secondary school 
curriculum by the year 2026. We 
have initiated discussions with the 
Bank PNG and the Department of 
Treasury on funding possibilities 
and options. 

We backed our resolve to increase 

GARIMA TONGIA
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

access to financial services and 
suppor t business training for 
women with the establishment 
of a GESI Desk at the CEFI office. 
A majority of our collaborations 
in the year involved partnerships 
targeted at empowering women. 

Our involvement in providing 
f inancial  l i terac y t raining to 
women under the USAID-funded 
Lukautim Graun Program is one 
such example. This and several 
other partnerships were important 
highlights for CEFI in the year.

2021 also saw CEFI start work with 
the Global Green Growth Institute 
to develop the first-ever National 
Inclusive Green Finance Policy for 
PNG. As a responsible national 
institution, CEFI is proud to be 
associated with the development 
of a national policy that not only 
relates to f inancial  inclusion 
but also has environmental and 
societal benefits. We look forward 
to contributing meaningfully to 
the timely completion of this 
policy and lead the introduction 
and promotion of green finance 
flows in the country.

2022 will be a challenging year for 
CEFI as we embark on embracing 
stakeholder par tnerships that 
u t i l ize  F inancial  Technology 
(FinTech) solutions to enhance our 
financial inclusion push in PNG.
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CEFI Board & Management

The unique composition of the CEFI Board has been a catalyst for financial inclusion expansion 
in Papua New Guinea (PNG). The rich mix of highly experienced stakeholders and dedicated 
finance experts from key government institutions, industry and the Bank of Papua New Guinea 
provides an excellent governance and support mechanism for the CEFI management.

Mr Garima Tongia is the Executive Director of CEFI. He is an economist with 27 years of professional 
experience in the PNG Banking and finance industry. He has held senior management positions 
with the National Development Bank (NDB), was a pioneer in the creation of Wau Micro Bank (now 
Nationwide Micro Bank trading as MiBank) and has worked as a Senior Analyst with the Bank of Papua 
New Guinea. He has been at the forefront of Microfinance and financial inclusion development in the 
country. Mr Garima has international banking exposure and an in-depth knowledge of the sector.

GARIMA TONGIA
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Benny Popoitai is a career Central Banker at the Bank of Papua New Guinea, of which he served fifteen 
years as Deputy Governor.

He was a Member of the Executive Committee of the South East Asian Central Banks (SEACEN) Training 
Institute based in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia since 2006. A position he held until his term as Deputy Governor 
expired in 2016. This Executive Committee provided advice to the Board of SEACEN on all matters, including 
programmed content for strategic changes.

Prior to his appointment as Acting Governor of Bank of Papua New Guinea in December 2021, Mr Popoitai was 
the Director of Financial Analysis and Supervision Unit, (or FASU for short) within the Bank of PNG, he led the 
project team responsible for the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing reforms at Bank of 
PNG and was instrumental in negotiating for the Financial Intelligence Unit to be transferred from the Royal 
PNG Constabulary to Bank of PNG to enhance PNG’s need to comply with the Financial Action Task Force 
standards (or international standards), in order to bring PNG out of the Grey List. FASU is PNG’s Financial 
Intelligence Unit.

Mr Popoitai has been involved in Financial Inclusion as the Chairman of the Microfinance Expansion Project 
and subsequently the Centre for Excellence in Financial Inclusion.

He has passion for the advancement in digital solutions and subsequently in banking to bank the unbanked. 
In that PNG has now developed a Regulatory Sandbox and is innovation establishing the Inclusive Green 
Finance Sector in PNG.

In 2001, Mr Popoitai was awarded a Member of the British Empire (MBE) for services to banking and finance.

 BENNY POPOITAI 
CHAIRMAN 

& GOVERNOR OF BPNG

Michael Tumbo Kumung is the Deputy Secretary of the Department of National Planning & 
Monitoring with 20 years’ experience in Public Service. Michael have worked with the Papua New 
Guinea Internal Revenue Commission and Department of Finance dealing with Development 
Strategic Planning, Public Policy Formulation, Economic Modelling and Economic Development 
Analysis and Reporting. He has represented the Department of National Planning as alternate 
board member and director on PNG Gaming Control Board and National Research Institute board. 
Michael holds a Master of International Economics & Finance, University of Queensland, Australia.

MICHAEL TUMBO KUMUNG 
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN & 

BOARD MEMBER
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PAULUS LAVEIL
BOARD MEMBER

SALIYA J RABASINGHE
BOARD MEMBER

Paulus Laveil is currently Managing Director and Board Secretary of the PNG Federation of Savings and 
Loans Society Ltd. He has more than 15 years’ experience with the PNG National Development Bank as 
an Executive Manager for Lending, Policy and Corporate Services. He is a member of the Microfinance 
Expansion Project Steering Committee and is on the CEFI Board representing the Savings and Loans 
Societies in PNG. He holds an MBA from the University of New England, Australia.

Saliya J Ranasinghe has more than 25 years’ experience in the microfinance industry including roles as 
Finance Manager at Ceylon Oxygen and Chief Executive Officer of SEEDS Sri Lanka.  Since 2002 he has 
been a consultant and Chief Technical Advisor financial inclusion/microfinance projects with renowned 
organisations such as the Asian Development Bank (ADB) IFC and UN Capital Development Fund in 
countries across Asia, Africa, and the Pacific.  Saliya has also post graduate studies with England’s 
Canfield School of Technology and has an MBA from the University of Lincoln, England.  He is a fellow 
Member of the Society of Cost Management Accounts, Sri Lanka.

Sweta Sud has more than 20 years of innovation and management experience in the areas of education, 
enterprise resource planning, strategic project planning and stakeholder management. She is currently 
the Dean of PNG Institute of Banking and Business, and represents financial training institutions on the 
CEFI Board. Sweta has also been on the Board of the Small Business Development Corporation and 
has held positions at the Business Coalition for Women, the PNG India Business Council and the PNG 
Government’s Small to Medium Enterprise Policy and Master Plan. She is also a Faculty for the MBA 
program at Torrens University, Australia. Sweta holds a Bachelor of Engineering and postgraduate 
degrees in Business Administration, Project Management and Information Systems.

Tony Westaway is the CEO of MiBank in Papua New Guinea. He is also a Director and Honorary Fellow of 
the PNG Institute of Banking & Business Management, and is an Executive Member of the Microfinance 
Pasifika Network. A strong advocate for financial inclusion, Tony initiated the first Bank- led deployment of 
a mobile wallet in the South Pacific, with ‘MiCash’. Tony holds a MBA from Torrens University and a Master 
of Leadership in Development Finance from Frankfurt School of Finance & Management

Roddie Wada has more than 15 years’ experience in the public sector, mostly with the PNG Department 
of Treasury in the area of micro-economic policy. Currently the First Assistant Secretary of the Markets 
Policy Division, she deals with consumer and competition policy, private sector development and 
other micro/structural reform initiatives. Roddie is on the CEFI Board representing the Department of 
Treasury, and has also represented the Department on the Boards of CIC, Post PNG, Air Niugini and the 
Nationwide Microbank. She holds a Masters in Applied Commerce from Melbourne University, Australia.

RODDIE WADA 
BOARD MEMBER

TONY WESTAWAY 
BOARD MEMBER

SWETA SUD 
BOARD MEMBER

Mark Baker is a highly experienced international banker having previously held senior roles with HSBC 
in Saudi Arabia, Hong Kong, India and Bahrain. Prior to taking up his current role with ANZ PNG in 2012, 
h had overall responsibility for ANZ’s Corporate Banking activities in Queensland, covering private and 
public companies, with a particular focus on services to the Natural Resources sector. Experience across 
a wide range of banking activities including Corporate and Institutional Banking, Commercial and SME, 
and Retail Banking, as well as key product lines including International Trade Services, Payments and Cash 
Management and Operations.

MARK BAKER 
BOARD MEMBER
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Our Focus and Philosophy
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C EFI ‘s  m i s s i o n  i s  t o  p r o m o t e  t h e 
provision of quality financial services, 
develop innovative delivery channels 
and favilitate finanvial eduvation. In this 
way, we will makw f inanvial ser vices 
accessible to all Papua New Guineans.

Our vision is to reduce paverty in Papua 
New Guinea by developing f inancial 
inclusion that allows all citizens access to 
affordable financial services.

CEFI focus on three core values to fulfil 
our mission: Quality, Transparent and 
Equity (QTE). Our members and team 
of  dedic ated profess ionals  uphold 
these values, enabling us to continue 
developing healthy financial inclusion 
across PNG.

The Center for Excellence in Financial Inclusion (CEFI) is the industry apex 
organization for coordinating, advocating, and monitoring all financial 
inclusion activities in Papua New Guinea. We have remained focused on 
financial inclusion and literacy, poverty elimination, and the promotion of 
vibrant financial institutional operations since our establishment in 2013.
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Our Team

The CEFI staff are led by an Executive Director who is a Member of the CEFI Board. The team 
comprises of professionals with years of experience in the PNG finance and banking industry, 
financial education, financial inclusion, accounting, information and technology, project 
management, public relations, Gender and Social Inclusion (GESI) and general administration 
and management. Having the right people working in our teams is crucial for progressing 
financial inclusion in PNG.

We have remained resilient throughout the COVID-19 pandemic as an organization and team. We 
regrouped in 2021 and refocused our efforts on helping individuals and businesses, particularly 
MSMEs, recover from the effects of the pandemic as it resided.

Every staff is respected and valued as an important 
part of the CEFI team.
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Our Journey

NFIS 2013 - 2015

NFIS 2016 - 2020

NFIS 2016 - 2020

NFIS 2016 - 2020

NFIS 2016 - 2020

2013  -  C E F I  e s t a b l i s h e d  a n d 
launched. First PNG NFIS launched.  
BPNG s igns Maya Dec larat ion 
commit ting to reach one million 
unbanked population.

NFIS 2016-2020 launched.

The National Financial Inclusion 
Policy is launched. BPNG renews 
Maya Declaration commitment: To 
reach 2 million of the PNG unbanked 
population - 50% to be women.

G E S I  p o l i c y  f o r  mi c r o f i n a n c e 
Institutionw launched - 13 financial 
institutions commit to implement 
the policy.

NEC approved National Financial 
Policy launched. BPNG renews Maya 
Declaration committment: To reach 2 
million unbanked population of which 
50% will be women. FI data Mapping 
commences.

NFIS 2016 - 2020

First year of CEFI in operation.  First 
year of implementation of the NFIS 
2013 – 2015 to improve financial 
inclusion in PNG.

Five year MVF projec t agreement 
signing - aimed at reaching 25, 000 
farming households across  the Morobe, 
East New Britain and Highlands Region 
provinces. SME loan product guide 
booklet launched.

NFIS 2023 - 2027

NFIS 2012 - 2015
BPNG introduces KATS to improve 
efficiency of payment system. PNG 
joined BTCA and commit ted to 
digitalizing government payment 
s y s tems .  O ver  70 0 new bank 
accounts opened.

NFIS 2016-2020 reviewed by PNG NRI. NFIS 2023 – 2027 is developed. CEFI partners IBBM to 
pioneer online Micro Finance Training. Seven Financial Institutions commit to support farming 
communities in six provinces under the MVF. DSF gains momentum. Promotional campaign for 
insurance products launched. CEFI partners GGGI to develop an Inclusive and Green Finance 
Policy for PNG.

NFIS 2013 - 2015
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CEFI is committed 
to support 
informal sector 
entrepreneurs 
have access to 
information on 
financial services 
and help them 
understand the 
importance of 
opening bank 
accounts.
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Progressing  
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Our 2021 performance highlights.
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Strategic Highlights

The implementation of national financial inclusion strategies is a 
core function of CEFI.  Financial inclusion strategies have evolved 
and improved over time with the evolving global and national 
finance and banking industry.  CEFI is an extension of the Bank of 
Papua New Guinea’s (BPNG) Microfinance Expansion Program (MEP) 
implemented in the early 2000s.  The introduction of microfinance 
institutions under MEP was intended to address gaps in the formal 
financial sector that denied the majority of PNG citizens access to 
financial services.  CEFI builds on that foundation but now with a 
broader scope, guided by national financial inclusion strategies, 
to guide the industry towards promoting and expanding financial 
inclusion in PNG.

The implementation of the NFIS 
2016- 2020 came to an end in 
December 2020. The second for 
the country, this NFIS had the 
major aim of getting an additional 
two million Papua New Guineans 
access to and use of f inancial 
services by the end of 2020 - 50% 
of whom were to be women. This 
ambitious yet achievable target 
has its origins and linkages to 
the Maya Declaration re-signed 
by BPNG as a member of the 
Alliance for Financial Inclusion 
(AFI) in September 2018. AFI is 
a network of central banks and 
financial regulators of 88 countries 
committed to advancing financial 
inclusion globally par ticularly 
throughout countries and regions 
of member states.

According to NFIS data, by the start 
of 2016, only 1,640,565 people 
had bank accounts across PNG. 
This was about 20% of PNG’s total 
population.  To reach an additional 
two (2) million of PNG’s unbanked, 

the strategy focused on nine (9) 
priority areas:

• Digital Financial Services

• Inclusive Insurance

• Financial Literacy and Financial 
Education

• Financial Consumer Protection

• Informal Economy and Agricultural 
Finance

• SME Finance

• Resource Sector Engagement

• Data Collection and Dissemination

• Government Engagement

Wor k ing  Groups  compr is ing 
relevant technical exper ts and 
stakeholders were established to 
oversee the implementation of 
strategic objectives under each 
focus area. Despite disruptions 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic 

NFIS 2016-2020 Implementation: 
An Overview
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over the last half of the strategy’s 
four-year tenure, CEFI and i t s’ 
partners have progressed a number 
of important initiatives and programs 
under each focus area.

Digital Financial 
Services (DFS)
The objective of the NFIS for Digital 
Financial Services (DFS) was for 
the banking and finance industry 
“to continue to actively support 
innovative use of technology for 
scaling up financial access and 
promotion of expansion of digital 
finance services to reach remote 
parts of the country” (NFIS 2016-
2020).  DFS is an effective driver 
o f  f inanc ia l  inc lus ion  e f for t s 
in developing countries.  It is an 
innovative and cost-effective solution 
to access and usage challenges to 
financial services.  Major strides 
were made over the last four (4) 
years to progress financial inclusion 
through the use of DFS in PNG.

The in t roduc t ion  of  the  K ina 
Automated Transfer System (KATS) 
and Retail  Elec tronic Payment 
Systems (REPS) by BPNG significantly 
improved digital payments in PNG.  
By December 2021, there were 
over a million Papua New Guineans 
using mobile payment platforms to 
perform financial transactions.  This 
was a huge increase compared to 
the year 2016 were there were only 
343,618 mobile banking users.

The constant evolution of technology 
promises continuous improvement 
of  f inanc ia l  ser v ices  through 
innovation. The use of mobile wallet 
services by subsidiaries of Mobile 
Network Operationers (MNO) like 
Digicel’s Cellmoni for instance, 
is revolutionizing perceptions of 
f inance and i t s  use.  CEFI  has 
embraced digital transformation 

and anticipates major progress in 
financial inclusion in PNG through 
innovation, particularly in Fintech 
(Financial Technology).  CEFI is 
exploring options of supporting 
local entrepreneurs interested 
in FINTECH start-ups through an 
incubation center approach. 

Inclusive Insurance
Industry data indicates that only 
about two percent (2%) of Papua 
New Guineans are insured. The aim 
of the NFIS was to get 1.5million 
people insured by the end of 2020. 
There is a large market gap and 
potential for insurance, specifically 
microinsurance products for the 
informal sec tor and MSMEs. 
However,  recent at tempt s to 
introduce innovative insurance 
models in the country have had 
challenges scaling, business wise.

A lack of interest in insurance 
products exists in the general 
PNG population. Observations 
and surveys have highlighted the 
lack of knowledge of the purpose, 
function, and benefits of insurance 
as the major reason for this aversive 
behavior. However, the need for 
microinsurance products for the 
low-income and informal market 
exists where there is a vulnerability 
to various kinds of r isks that 
cannot be fully covered by social 
insurance or informal risk-sharing 
arrangements.

A nationwide awareness campaign 
(mainly using the social media 
platform Facebook) bearing the 
theme “Get Insured, Rest Assured” 
was initiated by CEFI in partnership 
with BPNG and insurance industry 
stakeholders in October 2020 to 
address the insurance knowledge 
gap in PNG. The main objectives 
of the campaign were to:

• R a i s e  a w a r e n e s s  a n d 
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understanding of the concept 
of insurance for individuals and 
businesses;

• Explain the use of insurance 
within a risk mitigation strategy 
for individuals or businesses; 
and

• Explain the main t ypes of 
risks that can be dealt with 
by insurance The six-month 
campaign which ended in 
March 2021 reached over 
200,000 on Facebook (social 
media reach).

Financial Literacy and 
Financial Education

CEFI has success fully trained over 
300,000 people in financial literacy, 
business skills and professional training 
in microfinance put together since its 
inception.  The aim of the NFIS 2016-2020 
was to build on these gains in financial 
education and training programs into 
educational institutions such as technical 
co l leges ,  secondar y  and pr imar y 
schools. CEFI successfully established 
a partnership with the Department of 
Education in 2021 to introduce financial 
education into the Primary and High 
School curriculum. Work is progressing 
through an established working group 
with relevant stakeholder partners.

Financial Consumer 
Protection (FCP)
A lack of  t rus t  in the formal 
financial sector can be a deterrent 
to financial help-seeking behavior.  
This aim of this focus area was 
to introduce and implement a 
consumer protection framework 
for regulated financial institutions.  
A  sur vey  conduc ted by  the 
International Finance Corporation 
(IFC) and BPNG on the Financial 
C onsumer  Prote c t ion  Le gal 
a n d  Re g u l a t o r y  Fr a m e wo r k 

and Industry Practices identified 
significant gaps around disclosure 
requirements, fair trade practices, 
product suitability, and consumer 
complaint redress mechanisms. 
Financial Consumer Protec tion 
(FCP) frameworks give confidence 
to consumers of financial services.  
CEFI  is  suppor t ing ef for t s  to 
establish a comprehensive financial 
Consumer protection framework 
a n d  s u p e r v i s i o n  m e c h a n i s m 
through the enactment of relevant 
of legislation.

Access to Finance for Informal 
and Agriculture Enterprises
The objective of this focus area was 
to enhance access and usage of 
finance for enterprises in the informal 
economy including agriculture.  A 
Government of PNG (GoPNG) study 
published in 2020 revealed that a 
thriving Informal economy existed in 
the country with a projected worth 
of about K1.2billion.  The same 
report estimated that approximately 
80% of working adults in PNG made 
an income in the informal sector.  
Given these scenarios and current 
NFIS data, it is likely that a large 
portion of the unbanked population 
in the country operate in the informal 
sector.

Using our Financial Inclusion training 
programs, CEFI continued to educate 
informal sector entrepreneurs on 
the impor tance of banking.  In 
collaboration with partner financial 
institutions, many participants have 
opened new bank accounts - the first 
step to accessing financial products 
and services offered by regulated 
financial institutions in PNG.

A lot more work through partnerships with 
financial institutions is required to establish 
financing products tailored to support 
informal sector entrepreneurs venturing 
into the formal economy.  Some work has 
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payments to local communities.

Data Collection and 
Dissemination
The objective of this focus area 
was to ensure that there was 
regular collection and publication 
of financial inclusion data for policy 
makers and commercial service 
providers in Papua New Guinea. 
CEFI  cont inues to work wi th 
BPNG and financial institutions to 
collect, validate and disseminate 
financial inclusion data. Quarterly 
snapshots of NFIS data have 
been presented regularly. While 
supply-side data is forthcoming, 
the challenge has been with the 
collection of demand-side data.

Government Engagement
The intention of the NFIS was 
to promote the integration of 
financial inclusion into the planning 
and implementation processes 
at all  levels of government – 
national, provincial and local. 
C E F I  c o n t i n u e d  t o  e n g a g e 
w i t h  G ove r nm e n t  A g e n c i e s 
and Provinc ial  Government s 
throughout the term of the NFIS 
2016-2020.  Through MOUs, CEFI 
participated in policy initiatives 
and established relationships to 
expand financial inclusion.

Key Government Central Agencies 
participate at both the governance 
(Board of Directors) and operational 
levels (Working Groups) at CEFI. 
Further partnerships with relevant 
g ove r n m e n t  a g e n c i e s  h ave 
helped progress CEFI’s mandate 
throughout the duration of the 
NFIS 2016-2020. Our Provincial 
Government Engagement program 
has resulted in partnerships with 
four (4) Provincial Governments so 
far- West New Britain, East New 
Britain provinces, Milne Bay and 
New Ireland Provinces.

actually started in the Agricultural sector.  
CEFI in partnership with Fresh Produce 
Limited have initiated work under the 
Market for Village Farmers project (MVF) 
to explore and develop financing options 
for farmers in the Highlands of PNG.  This 
initiative is gaining momentum with the 
possibility of partner financial institutions 
expected to carry out some trials with 
selected farmers in late 2022 or early 2023.

SME Finance
Enhance access to and usage of 
f inance for Small  and Medium 
Enterprises (SME) is an ongoing 
focus of CEFI.  Efforts on improving 
access to finance for SMEs require 
consideration of legal frameworks 
around financial risk management 
and existing credit facilities.  The 
establishment of a Credit Guarantee 
Corporation to improve access to 
credit is currently being worked on 
by the Government of PNG.

Several  ini t ia t ives  f rom other 
organizations around rural finance, 
agr icul ture insurance,  mobile 
microinsurance, crowdfunding, and 
peer-to-peer lending have been 
discussed and a few trialed but 
with very little traction or none at 
all.  CEFI continues to work with 
relevant partners and stakeholders 
to improve this priority area.

Resource Sector Engagement
The aim of this focus area was to 
leverage opportunities within the 
resources sector to advance financial 
inclusion.  Engagement with the 
Mineral Resources Authority (MRA) 
enabled CEFI to provide financial 
inclusion activities to selected mining 
communities.  Activities included 
financial literacy training, business 
development skills training, the 
opening of bank accounts, and the 
establishment of agency banking.  
Discussions are ongoing to digitalize 
mining royalties and compensation 



21 CEFI ANNUAL REPORT 2021

The review and consultations
A  d ia gn o s t i c  rev iew  o f  t h e 
implementation of the NFIS 2016-
2020 was carr ied out by the 
National Research Institute (PNG 
NRI) in 2021 as a prelude to the 
development of the next NFIS 
2023-2027.  The review found that:

• Certain priority areas had to 
be re-considered and replaced 
with new evolving agendas like 
Green Finance;

• Some priority areas failed to 
attract the right resources;

• C er t a in  Wor k ing  Groups 
were ineffective due to a lack 
of commitment, resources, 
an d  te c hnic a l  ex p er t i s e .  
Fur ther more,  there  were 
too many commit tees and 
r e q u i r e m e n t s  f o r  b u s y 
stakeholders to keep up with;

• Baseline data were absent 
and lack of consultation with 
Finance Service Providers on 
relevant data sets; and

• T h e r e  w a s  a  n e e d  f o r 
i m p r o v e m e n t  o f  d a t a 
collec tion, validation, and 
reporting processes of NFIS 
data.

An extensive consultative process 
then followed with various relevant 
stakeholders from the finance and 
banking industry and public, private 
and development sectors in PNG.

The outcome of the process
The review and consultative process 
established an understanding of the 
performance and effectiveness of 
the last NFIS.  This insight brought 
about a good sense of the current 
state of financial inclusion in the 
countr y and culminated in the 
drafting of new strategic approaches 
and objectives to expand financial 
inclusion over the next four years.  
The following strategic objectives 
were proposed:

• Build f inancial  competency 
through financial literacy and 
education;

• Strengthen an enabling policy 
and regulatory environment 
conducive to innovation and 
promote the growth of inclusive 
green finance;

• D e v e l o p  e f f i c i e n t  d i g i t a l 
infrastructure;

• Promote ef fective public and 
private sector engagement; and

Deepen financial service delivery 

Strategy Development: 
NFIS 2023-2027
The NFIS provides objectives and priorities to drive financial inclusion in 
PNG.  Development of the third NFIS 2023-2027 started in 2021.  The CEFI 
Board appointed a Financial Inclusion Strategy Formulation Committee 
(FISFC) to oversee the development process.  The main role of the 
Committee was to conduct a diagnostic review of the NFIS (2016-2020) 
implementation and provide recommendations, including the proposal 
of appropriate innovative approaches to expand financial inclusion over 
the next four years.  Furthermore, the Committee ensured a consultative 
process was effectively facilitated to guide the strategy development 
process for the new NFIS.
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by har nes s ing new emerging 
technology

The key goal of the next NFIS is for 
regulated financial institutions to 
reach an additional two million of 
the nation’s unbanked population.  
Implementation of various initiatives 
to expand financial inclusion in the 
country have been ongoing.  CEFI is 
focused on delivering the following 
priorities over the next four years:

• NFIS 2023-2027 implementation;

• Roll-out of financial inclusion in 
selected provinces and districts 
under the Provincial Government 

Rollout Program;

• T he  inc lu s ion  o f  f inanc ia l 
training in the PNG primary and 
secondary school education 
curricula by the year 2026.



In 2021, there were 220 financial 
service provider branches and 469 
ATM service outlets.

There were 13,325 EFTPOS devices 
in use in throughout PNG in 2021. 
More people are now using bank 
cards for transactions rather than 
carrying cash

There was a 20% increase in the 
number of agents for f inancial 
service providers in 2021 – 516 
agents.

By the end of December 2021, 
there were 1,058,863 mobile 
banking users in PNG.

1,154,314 
Number of Women 

with Deposit Accounts

347,812 
Women with Mobile 

FS Accounts
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2021 NFIS Data
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CEFI has continued to collaborate with financial institutions to capture financial inclusion data 
- published periodically.  This has assisted in monitoring the state of financial inclusion in PNG.

 Table 1 (below) presents aggregate figures of access and usage points in PNG as of December 31, 2021.

Table 1.

Improvement in financial inclusion data collection and reporting is a priority for CEFI.  It is 
anticipated that financial inclusion data will be introduced onto the BPNG data collection On-line 
Portal in 2022 as part of regulatory compliance. CEFI continues to provide quality performance 
snapshot (QPS) and annual benchmark reports periodically.

2021 ACCESS & USAGE POINTS
DIMENSION INDICATOR Q1, 2021 Q2, 2021 Q3, 2021 Q4, 2021

Access Number of Access Points/Cash-in & & Cash-out Ponts 14, 719 14, 923 15, 087 15, 031

Number of Branches 212 215 220 220

Number of ATMs 474 470 471 469

Number of EFTPOS 13, 602 13, 820 13, 945 13, 325

Number of Agents 431 427 451 516

Usage Number of Mobile FS Access Points 14, 507 14, 717 14, 867 14, 297

Number of Mobile FS Accounts 939, 442 1, 099, 641 1, 131, 162 1, 058, 863

Usage Number of Women with Mobile FS Accounts 323, 085 337, 936 356, 603 347, 812

Number of Deposit Accounts 3, 324, 000 3, 374, 823 3, 473, 678 3, 474, 922

Number of Women Deposit Accounts - - 1, 025, 646 1, 154, 314

Number of Credit Accounts 284, 764 298, 802 299, 176 323, 687

Number of Women with Credit Accounts 91, 061 90, 898 92, 860 113, 219

Financial inclusion supports both inclusive economic development and helps alleviate poverty. 
The ascending trends shown by access and usage indicators over the last five years are 
encouraging signs for financial inclusion in PNG.

Chart 1:  Trends of four key usage indicators over the last five years.
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Operational Highlights

Online Microfinance Training

CEFI understands the important 
role of microfinance institutions as 
front liners in efforts to improve 
financial inclusion in PNG.  CEFI 
was instrumental in developing 
modules for the first microfinance 
professional training currently 
prov ided by the Ins t i tu te of 
Business and Banking Management 
(IBBM).  IBBM is a par tner of 
BPNG in delivering on-campus 
microfinance training modules 
- products of the Microfinance 
Expansion Program (MEP) that 
ended in 2019.  However, travel 
and meeting restrictions brought 
about by the COVID-19 pandemic 
prevented training at the institute 
from eventuating.  Turning to 
digital and internet technologies 
provided an on- l ine t raining 
solution to this challenge.

A partnership between CEFI and 
IBBM in 2021 made it possible 
for Microfinance Training to be 
delivered on-line for the first time 
in the country.  Training materials 
developed under the Microfinance 
Expansion Projec t  (MEP) were 
digit ized (conver ted to digital 
training materials) and launched in 
July 2021.  Learners were able to 
access training through the internet 
(on-line).  A total of twenty-five 
(25) participants from commercial 
banks, savings & loans societies, and 
microfinance institutions enrolled 
in the first on-line microfinance 
training.

Finance Finder – Online Portal 
for Business Support

CEFI continued to explore ways of 
improving access to finance for PNG 

CEFI continued to implement activities aligned to the NFIS throughout the 
year.  Emphasis on building and strengthening partnerships maintained 
conducive environments for advancing financial inclusion in the country.  
Highlights of the year revolved around innovation, strategic partnerships, 
and introduction to new areas of responsibility for CEFI.

Leveraging Digital Transformation
Digital transformation has revolutionized the regulated banking and 
financial services sector globally.  In PNG, increased internet coverage and 
the introduction of evolving mobile technologies have greatly improved 
the accessibility and usage of digital financial services.  This development 
has further increased opportunities for CEFI and its partners to not only 
reach more of the unbanked population but also enhance banking and 
financial services in the country.

Several successful collaborations in 2021 demonstrated how embracing 
digital transformation has been advantageous, created value, and provided 
innovative solutions to increase financial inclusion in PNG - especially amid 
the effects of the coronavirus pandemic.



26CEFI ANNUAL REPORT 2021 

SMEs in 2021. SMEs need readily 
available information on financial 
products and services as a first 
step to seeking business funding 
opportunities.  Digital technologies 
have improved communication 
and access to such information.  
However, PNG lacks plat forms 
designed for convenience and ease-
of-access to business and finance 
information. To help bridge this gap, 
CEFI, through a partnership with 
Business Link Pacific, introduced an 
on-line financial services information 
portal for SMEs called the Finance 
Finder in August 2021.

The Finance Finder is designed to 
help PNG SMEs find appropriate 
f inancing options. The Finance 
Finder works in partnership with 
banks and various financial service 
providers to provide the latest 
information on available products. 
SME lending Products offered by 
MiBank, Kina Bank, BSP Financial 
Group Limited, People’s Micro Bank, 
Women’s Micro Bank, Kada Poroman 
Microfinance Limited, and Credit 
Corporation Finance Limited are 
currently available on the portal.

Online training on Digital 
Financial literacy, Business 
Planning & Debt management, 
and E-commerce 

The CEFI training team contributed 
to the development of an Asian 
Development Bank (ADB) training 
on  Dig i t a l  F inanc ia l  L i ter ac y 
a n d  B u s i n e s s  P l a n n i n g  a n d 
Debt Management for Women 
Entrepreneurs.  With funding from 
the Women Entrepreneur’s Finance 
initiative (WeFI), the ADB training 

aimed at building the capacity 
of women SME owners.   The 
training was included essentials of 
e-commerce.    

An important goal of this initiative 
was to provide support to women 
entrepreneurs affected by effects 
of the COVID-19 pandemic in PNG.  
CEFI was a key partner in ensuring 
participants were supported well 
by providing e-Commerce support 
through the GESI Desk and debt 
counseling.

A total of 195 business women 
participated in the training.

CEFI and the Developing 
Financial Markets for 
Enterprises in the Pacific 
Islands (DEFINE) Initiative 

CEFI fur ther s trengthened its 
resolve to harness innovation for 
financial inclusion expansion in 
PNG through a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) with 
three proponents of the DEFINE 
Initiative - PNGX Markets, the PNG 
Digital ICT Cluster and Emerging 
Venture Management (Unkapt).

The DEFINE Initiative contributes 
to the development of financial 
markets, products, and services 
for aligned enterprises in Papua 
New Guinea and the Pacific Island 
countries.  The initiative has two 
ul t imate goals –  diversi f y ing 
sources of capital for enterprises 
and enhancing access to finance.  
This includes the establishment 
of specialist SME funding facilities 
for debt, debt-like, and equity-like 
investments in SDG-aligned private 
enterprises which demonstrate 
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governance, performance, return 
and impact potential with a special 
focus on Women-led enterprises, 
clean energy initiatives, agri-
bus ines ses ,  and bus ines ses 
in the ICT sector. Furthermore, 
improving access to financial and 
banking services and empowering 
people, particular women and the 
vulnerable through innovation are 
key objectives of the initiative.

The three proponents of the 
DEFINE initiative – PNGX Markets, 
PNG Digi tal  ICT Clus ter and 
Emerging Venture Management 
– play signif icant roles in the 
development of digital finance in 
PNG: 

• The PNGX Market s  is  the 
national stock exchange of 
Papua New Guinea. PNGX is 
responsible for providing an 
orderly and fair market for 
securities traded through its 
facilities and for acting in the 
public interest, recognizing 
the need to protect investors.

• T h e  P N G  D i g i t a l  I C T 
Cluster is a unique not-for-
profit ,  membership-driven 
association for innovation 
b e t w e e n  b u s i n e s s  a n d 
universi t y,  and the link to 
public authorities – its goal 
is  to s t imulate a business 
e n v i r o n m e n t  w h e r e 
technology provides important 
productivity and economic 
benefit for the country.

• T h e  E m e r g i n g  V e n t u r e 
Management is a globally 
operational private placement 

marketplace operating in the 
private debt asset segment - it 
provides a non equity, cross-
border, on-line capital-raising 
platform offering investee firms 
globally the opportunity to use 
innovative financing to raise 
capital among a network of 
accredited investors.

T h e  p a r t n e r s h i p  p r o v i d e s 
opportunities to explore innovative 
solutions to improve access to 
finance in PNG. 
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Impact Story

A little help makes a big difference 
How digital business and finance education has revived the business of 
a determined woman entrepreneur after the Convid19 pandemic and 
sparked a passion for financial inclusion in her village.

Cecilia Pepson 

It was January 2020 and the world 
was on lock down. The Novel Corona 
Virus had swept over the world 
striking down millions of people. 
There was a pandemic on the loose. 
And it was not just human lives that 
were affected.

The global economy had come 
to a s tandstill.  Restr ic t ions on 
the movement of people meant 
businesses could not sell goods and 
services.

The results would be devastating for 
all businesses, sectors and people 
alike worldwide.

Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
(MSME) in Papua New Guinea were 
the hardest hit.

As the hold of the pandemic slowly 
eased and the world slowly began 
to re-open, many businesses 
would struggle to recover without 
help.

However, embracing innovation 
proved to be the game changer 
for many business owners in the 
recovery process.

Cecilia Pepson, a businesswoman 
in the Port Moresby Real Estate 
Industry, is one such case.

Originally from the Autonomous 
Region of Bougainville (ABG) and 
married to a man from the Western 
Highlands Province, Cecilia owns 
and manages the Harbor View 
Apar tments in downtown Por t 
Moresby.

She had a thriving business which 
she s tar ted in the year 2004 
providing accommodation to 
expatriates and tourists.

Before the year 2019 ended, the 
looming pandemic would see all 
her foreign tenants packed and 
headed back home overseas.

Just like many MSME owners, 
Cecilia was not ready for that. She 
was not a business professional 
with a college education to help 
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her respond strategically. She 
was just an entrepreneur that 
made an income from renting her 
apartments. As the first months of 
2020 came, her revenue stream 
had dried up as borders were 
closed and the shutdown of cities 
became effective.

W h a t  p u s h e d  C e c i l i a  i n t o 
becoming an entrepreneur was 
her desire to support her husband 
and afford the best education they 
could for their children.

H e r  hu s b a n d  w a s  a  f o r m e r 
diplomat, Ambassador Gabriel 
Pepson.

For ten (10) years, her children had 
been exposed to quality education 
in Europe where her husband was 
posted as the PNG Ambassador 
to the European Union. When 
his term ended and the family 
returned to PNG, Cecilia shunned 
the thought  of  her  chi ldren 
missing out on quality education 
she knew existed overseas. But 
to do this, the couple would need 
a profitable business to support 
them financially. The Port Moresby 
real estate market provided exactly 
what they needed.

The business had helped to 
a c c o m p l i s h  h e r  d r e a m s  o f 
providing quality education to 
her children and a dependable 
regular flow of income. However, 
after fifteen (15) years in operation, 

the implications of the Covid19 
pandemic set her business on a 
downward spiral.

As Cecilia contemplated her next 
move in 2021, a friend from the Bank 
of PNG suggested she enquire with 
CEFI for business advice.

Around that time, CEFI was about 
to implement “The Training and 
Mentoring Program for Women-
Led Businesses.” An initiative by 
the Asian Development Bank (ADB) 
with funding from the Women 
Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative 
(We-Fi), the program provided 
virtual training on financial literacy, 
b u s i n e s s  p l a n n i n g  a n d  d e b t 
management, and e-commerce to 
women entrepreneurs.

An important aim of the initiative was 
to help women-owned businesses 
recover from the ef fec ts of the 
Covid19 pandemic.

Cecilia was ecstatic to learn about 
the training and quickly expressed 
her interest to attend the program.

Within six months of completing her 
training, Cecilia breathed life back 
into her business by applying her 
newfound business skills.  By the end 
of December 2021, her e-commerce 
skills had brought in tenants for her 
apartments.

“Using the knowledge gained from 
the training, I was able to advertise 
my busines s  on- l ine and now 
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have five new tenants renting my 
apartments” Cecilia said. 

Her confidence has grown as a 
businesswoman.

The training has also enabled her 
to connect with other women SME 
owners. The sharing of ideas and 
approaches to managing various 
challenges from others has greatly 
helped Cecilia with her business.

CEFI continued to track her progress.  
In early 2022, Cecilia was one of 
five (5) women entrepreneurs that 
benefited from debt counseling 
from MiBank initiated by CEFI.

This determined businesswoman 
is also the President of the Lenoke 
Women’s Association (LWA) of South 
Bougainville where she is from.

As her understanding of finance and 
business management increased, 
she began to see the importance of 
financial literacy and desired it for 
her people.

In collaborat ion wi th MiBank, 
Cecilia organized for agents to visit 
her village in May 2022 enabling 
seventy-three (73) people in Lenoke 
to open bank accounts.  Those who 
had mobile phones also activated 
mobile banking ser vices af ter 
opening an account.  This was the 
first time for people in her village to 
have access to such bank services 
this easily.

LWA posted on its Facebook Page 
in May 2022

“Banking the unbanked…. 95% of 
the people in Lenoke have never 
been to a bank. The sheer thought 
of standing in long queues for 
hours, to be sent home every day 
for a week until full requirements 
are met is a hindrance. Cash is 
safely tucked into a secret space 
of their thatched roof until a fire 
gut the bush material hut. Sending 
their money straight into the bank 
is revolutionary”.

LWA is now MiBank’s agent serving 
the South Bougainville area to 
open more personal  savings 
accounts. 

Apart from growing her business, 
Cecilia now wants to partner with 
CEFI to expand financial literacy 
in her Lenoke constituency.  She 
want s her people to receive 
vir tually retail financial literacy 
training as she did.
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Financial Literacy and Financial Education 
CEFI  cont inued to prov ided 
financial literacy and business 
skills training throughout 2021.  
Since 2013, CEFI has successfully 
facilitated and trained a total 
of 237,406 people in financial 
l i terac y;  47% of  whom were 
women. CEFI also continued to 
conduct Training of Trainers (ToT) 
programs which has built a pool 
of 1011 certified financial literacy 
trainers throughout the country 
which includes 368 women.  A 
total of 17,423 people have also 
received Business Essential Skills 
training conducted by CEFI – 10, 
139 were women – by the end of 
December 2021.

The CEFI t raining team have 
collaborated with partners and 
stakeholders to develop financial 
inc lus ion busines s  es sent ia l 
skills training packages.  CEFI 
has embraced innovation and 
par t ic ipat ing in  int roducing 
digital training programs in the 
country. 

O n g oin g  p ar t n e r s h ip s  w i t h 
G o v e r n m e n t  A g e n c i e s  a n d 
Provincial Governments have 
paved way to reach more people 
in the countr y. Incorporating 
Financial  Educat ion into the 
primary and secondary school 
education curricula by 2026 is 
a priority for CEFI through its 
partnership with the Department 
of Education.

C E F I  l o o k s  f o r w a r d  t o  t h e 
accredi t a t ion of  i t s  t ra ining 
progr ams wi th  the  Nat ional 
Training Institute.
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237,406 
People Trained

47% Women Trained 

1011 CEFI Certified 
Trainers 

368 Women are CEFI 
Certified Trainers 
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Special Projects

Market for Village Farmers 
Project (MVF)
Most rural communities in PNG, especially 
those in the Highlands, have the potential 
to sustain their livelihoods while making 
an income through agriculture.  To help 
them realize this potential, a collaboration 
between the Department of Agriculture and 
Livestock (DAL), CEFI and the Fresh Produce 
Development Agency, with funding from 
(IFAD), initiated the Market for Village Farmers 
Project (MVF).  CEFI was tasked to provide 
livelihood training to farming households and 
link farmers and the value chain to financial 
institutions with the end goal for farmers to 
acquire agriculture loans and commercialize 
their businesses. 

The core objectives of the project are to:

•  Help farmers become financially literate;

•  Provide basic life and business skills;

•  Empower women who are normally 
suppressed in rural PNG; and

•  Link farmers to formal financial service 
providers

CEFI has further engaged partner organizations 
to conduct ToT and retail trainings under 
the project.  MVF will be implemented in 
six provinces – Western Highlands, Jiwaka, 

Simbu, Eastern Highlands, Morobe, and East 
New Britain Provinces.

Training
Under the MVF, farmers received retail 
training tailored to increase financial literacy 
knowledge and skills.  CEFI also conducted a 
Training of Trainers (ToT) session for partner 
trainers.  Farmers further received gender 
and nutrition training. The important message 
driven through the training was for farmers to 
see “farming as a business”. 

V i l l a g e  F a r m e r s  L i v e l i h o o d 
Improvement Training (VLIT)

The Village Farmers Livelihood Improvement 
Training (VLIT) program is a component 
of MVF that promotes financial inclusion 
through family finance management training.  
This program was made possible through a 
partnership between CEFI, the Department 
of Agriculture and Livestock (DAL), Care 
International and Fresh Produce Development 
Agency (FPDA) with funding from IFAD.

CEFI through Care International successfully 
conducted a VLIT Training of Trainers (ToT) 
for the first 25 participants which included 
9 women in Western Highlands Province in 
2021. VLIT aims to improve the participation 
of women in family and business financial 
decision making. It reinforces the value of 

CEFI is dedicated to understanding the unique challenges of PNG communities and designing 
solutions specific to local needs.  We appreciate that the environmental, cultural, and social 
diversity of each region and localities within regions have a major bearing on economic activity 
and financial inclusion.  Our special projects deliver tailored activities to expand financial 
inclusion in rural communities – where the bulk of the nation’s population is.  These projects 
capture the essence of our vision; to alleviate poverty and improve livelihoods in PNG.  CEFI 
currently has two special projects:

• Market for Village Farmers Project (MVF)
• Provincial Engagements
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women’s contribution to the family’s livelihood, 
and supports families to effectively work as a 
unit. It also gives families the necessary skills 
to manage expenditure, save money and plan 
for future business prospects.  An important 
area of focus was on improved communication 
between members of the household and 
to encourage respect for the opinions and 
acknowledgement of each family member’s 
contribution to the household.

Over 25,000 Farming Households in six 
targeted provinces (Western Highlands, 
Jiwaka, Simbu, Eastern Highlands, Morobe 
and East New Britain) will receive Village 
Farmers Livelihood Improvement Training 
under the MVF.  The training is part of efforts 
to build the capacity of vegetables farmers 
linked to the value chain of markets in Papua 
New Guinea. 

 Linkage to Financial Services
CEFI assisted farmers to access financial 
services from appropriate financial institutions.  
Assistance came in the form of helping farmers 
open bank accounts and receive advice on 
accessing funding.  CEFI negotiated with 
Microfinance Finance Institutions, Commercial 
Banks, and Savings and Loans Societies on 
ways to finance innovative agriculture projects 
initiated by trained farmers. Consultants 
were engaged by CEFI to assist par tner 
financial institutions with the development 
of agriculture lending facilities.  A highlight 
for the project in 2021 was the agreement of 
eight (8) financial service providers to partner 
with CEFI to deliver the MVF. These financial 
service providers included:

• Bank of South Pacific (BSP)

• MiBank

• Women Micro Bank

• People´s Micro Bank

• East New Britain Savings & Loans Society

• Kada Poroman Microfinance

• NASFUND Contributors Savings & Loans

• Nambawan Super Savings & Loans Society

The designing of agriculture lending products, 
pilot testing, and introduction of a risk Share 
facility for agriculture value chain lending for 
partner financial institutions are planned for 
2022.

Provincial Government Engagement
About eight y percent  (80%) of  PNG’s 
population still live in remote rural areas of 
provinces. The majority of this category of 
people are unbanked subsistence farmers.  
Reaching this demography demands a 
concerted effort by all relevant stakeholders.  
Provincial and Distric t Governments are 
mandated through an Organic Law to manage 
the administrative af fairs of Districts and 
Provinces in PNG. Strategic engagements 
with these important stakeholders – District 
and Provincial Administrations - provide an 
enabling environment for financial inclusion 
expansion in provinces.

Our Provincial Government Engagement 
Program has successfully created partnerships 
with four (4) Provincial Governments – West 
New Britain, Milne Bay, East New Britain, 
and New I re land Prov inces .  Through 
Memorandums of Agreements (MoA), CEFI 
has been able to assist with the establishment 
of Provincial Steering Committees to oversee 
financial inclusions activities in respective 
provinces. Financial Literacy and Training of 
Trainers training have been rollout in 2021. 
There are plans to sign additional provinces in 
the immediate foreseeable future so that the 
financial inclusion agenda is widely spread 
throughout the country.

CEFI  is  commit ted to advocat ing and 
facilitating the expansion of the banking 
network in partner provinces and the opening 
of bank accounts.
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Impact Story

“ S e e i n g  t h a t  t h e r e 
a r e  d e c e n t  e a r n i n g s 
from farming the land, 
I decided to set up the 
youth association which 
supports young people 
venture into farming as a 
business.”

Kevin Yehi

Livelihood training inspires farmer to lead 
money management training for young 
farmers.

Kevin never imagined that his small 
farming business would one day 
inspire him to establish the Jiwaka 
Youth in Agriculture (JYIA) in Kudjip 
Rural Local Level Government, 
Angalimp South Waghi District.

“Seeing that there are decent 
earnings from farming the land, 
I  decided to set  up the youth 
association which supports young 
people venture into farming as a 
business.”

Fifteen years after its establishment, 
the assoc iat ion now suppl ies 
watermelon, capsicum, and citrus 
fruits to the Mount Hagen Main 
Market s ,  Highlands Fresh,  JP 
Investments, PAK Vegetables, and 
catering contractors. The organic 
produce is also sold to Pogera Mine 
and the CPL group of Companies 
through Highlands Fresh (Tininga) 
and JP Investments.

However, there needs to be more 
work on changing youth financial 
behavior. Kevin explains that young 
farmers gain significant income 
from the vegetables they sell to the 
organized markets but they misuse 
their income.

“My dream is to see more young 
people build and live in permanent 
houses and excel in agribusiness. 

Farmers in rural communities in 
Jiwaka Province rely on farming 
for their livelihoods, but many 
face challenges transit ioning 
from semi-subsistence farming 
to market-oriented agribusiness. 
Coupled with limited financial 
services and products and poor 
money management skills, it can 
be overwhelming for farmers to 
grow and sustain their farming 
business.

Kevin Yehi,  a  lead farmer in 
Jiwaka is looking at addressing 
this issue, with his focus on youth 
farmers. In 2005, Kevin left formal 
employment  in  the c i t y  and 
headed to the province to set up 
his vegetable farming business. 

Kevin Yehi
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CEFI through the Market for Village 
Farmers Projec t will facili tate 
financial literacy training, services 
and produc ts to over 25,000 
farming households to financial 
training, services, and products 
a c r o s s  We s t e r n  H i g h l a n d s 
Province, Jiwaka, Simbu, and 
Eastern Highlands Province in the 
Highlands region and Morobe and 
East New Britain Provinces. CEFI 
will roll out money management 
skills, and develop community-
level  savings and innovat ive 
lending schemes that will pave 
the way to support farmers to 
build a strong savings culture and 
grow their businesses into viable 
commercial businesses.

MVF is executed by the Government 
of Papua New Guinea through the 
Department of Agriculture and 
Livestock (DAL) and implemented 
by Fresh Produce Development 
Agency, with funding from the 
International Fund for Agricultural 
Development (IFAD).

“This training is added 
value for me as a lead 
farmer,” Kevin beams 
a f t e r  h i s  c e r t i f i c a t e 
p r e s e n t a t i o n .  “ I  c an 
confidently train young 
f ar mer s  to  appr oach 
f a r m i n g  a s  a  f a m i l y 
business.”

I think critical money management 
training will help the youth manage 
their money well and live a fulfilling 
life.”

The Centre for Excellence in Financial 
Inclusion (CEFI) in partnership with 
the Market for Village Farmers (MVF) 
project and CARE International-PNG 
is training lead farmers like Kevin 
and other trainers to help build the 
capacity of rural farmers to improve 
their livelihoods.

Kevin is par t of 25 trainers who 
under went a t wo-week Village 
Farmers Livelihood Improvement 
Training of Trainers program in May 
2021. 

The Village Farmers Livelihood 
Improvement Training addresses the 
attitudes often prevalent in farming 
households that result in women 
and youth’s unequal participation in 
important decision-making for the 
family, including managing family 
income and participation in training 
and learning opportunities.
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GESI Desk

CEFI programs support social inclusion and the empowerment of women 
in PNG. CEFI is aligned through the NFIS to BPNG’s 2018 Alma Declaration 
commitment to reach an additional two million of the country’s unbanked 
of whom 50% are to be women. The establishment of a GESI Desk for CEFI 
was important in supporting efforts to assist more women access and use 
financial services. 

The CEFI GESI desk provides women easy access to information on 
various CEFI programs, business support opportunities and banking and 
financial services. It mainly acts as an information hub for women-specific 
programs. CEFI opened its GESI Desk in 2021 during the commemoration 
of Women’s Day.

CEFI continued to 
support women-
entrepreneurs in 

2021.
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CEFI and Department of Education Partnership
A strategic opportunity exists to address future financial inclusion gaps by 
starting with Primary and Secondary education system.  A key focus area of 
the NFIS 2016 – 2020 was to build on gains from ongoing financial education 
and to extend the training program to educational institutions such as 
technical colleges, secondary and primary schools.  In 2021, CEFI partnered 
with the Department of Education through an MOU signed in January 
2021 to develop and introduce financial education into the primary and 
secondary school curriculum.  A Steering Committee has been established.  
Work is progressing on the development of student resource materials and 
teacher guide books.  It is anticipated that the project will be rollout in 48 
schools throughout the country by the year 2026.

CEFI is pursuing funding opportunities from Government and development 
partners to progress this strategic initiative.

CEFI has always worked in harmony with government to develop and 
implement policy initiatives in the PNG finance and banking industry.  In 
2021, CEFI participated in two important government initiatives – with the 
Department of Education and the Global Green Growth Institute (GGGI).

Participation in Developing 
National Policy
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Inclusive and Green 
Finance Policy

CEFI was tasked to work 
w i t h  t he  G lob al  G re en 
Grow th Ins ti tute (GGG1) 
to develop an Inclusive 
and Green Finance Policy 
(IGFP) for PNG. Working 
a r r a n g e m e n t s  w e r e 
formal ized through the 
signing of a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) in 
June 2021. The project was 
funded by the Government 
of New Zealand (NZAID). It 
aims to move PNG towards 
greater climate resilience 
and inclusive green growth. 
The IGFP marks the f irs t 
step towards green finance 
in PNG, thereby facilitating 
future ef for ts to monitor, 
re gula te,  and promote 
green finance flows.

A  P r o j e c t  S t e e r i n g 
Committee and Technical 
W o r k i n g  G r o u p  w e r e 
established in to commence 
work on a green taxonomy 
for the country as part of 
the IGFP – to be launched 
in 2022.

Why does PNG need an 
IGFP?

Inclusive Green Finance 
( I G F )  e m b r a c e s  t h e 
o v e r l a p s  t h a t  e x i s t s 
between the two different 
fields of Inclusive Finance 
(IF )  and Green F inance 
(GF).  In a nutshell, Inclusive 

F i n a n c e  ( I F )  r e v o l v e s 
around poverty alleviation 
through improved access 
t o  f i n a n c i a l  s e r v i c e s 
a n d  p a r t i c i p a t i o n  i n 
t h e  e c o n o m y  t h r o u g h 
regulated financial services 
providers.  Green Finance 
(GF)  on the other  hand 
has sustainability and the 
reduction of environment 
related financial systemic 
risks at its core as it relates 
to investment and banking.  
A n  I G F P  i n c o r p o r a t e s 
elements of these distinct 
fields to address climate 
c hange mi t iga t ion  and 
a d a p t i o n  s t r a t e g i e s  i n 
investment and banking. 

AN IGFP takes into account 
t h r e e  m a i n  l i n k a g e s 
between IF and GF 

• The poorer members 
of the society are the 
hardest hit in the event 
of disasters of any sort.  
I t  is  the role of IF to 
enable adaptation as GF 
pursues sustainability.

• M o b i l i z a t i o n  o f  a l l 
sectors of the society 
towards mitigation and 
adaptation is enhanced 
with FI.

• S o c i a l  r i s k s  c a n  b e 
a  m a j o r  b a r r i e r  t o 
progress sus tainable 
economies. 

T h e  m u l t i - d i m e n s i o n a l 
f a c e t s  o f  t h e  e f f e c t s 

o f  c l i m a t e  c h a n g e  o n 
society presents a web of 
environmental, social and 
economic l inkages that 
mitigation and adaptation 
e f f o r t s  m u s t  c o n s i d e r.  
F o r  i n s t a n c e ,  w h i l e 
environmental concerns 
a n d  r e c o v e r y  c o s t s  a t 
the af termath of natural 
disasters are an enormous 
burden to government s 
and  bu s ine s s e s ,  s o c ia l 
implications on the low-
income earning and poorer 
members of societ y are 
also a huge challenge.  For 
developing nat ions l ike 
Papua New Guinea, this 
segment of the population 
makes up more than 80% of 
the country’s population; 
many of whom make a living 
in the informal sector.  

A n  I G F P  p r o v i d e s  a 
w h o l i s t i c  a p p r o a c h  t o 
address implicat ions of 
climate change.

‘Cl imate Resi l ience and 
Inclusive Green Grow th’ 
is one of the key pillars 
of  Papua New Guinea’s 
Development Strategy. Its 
importance is emphasized 
in ‘PNG Vision 2050’,  ‘PNG 
D e v e l o p m e n t  S t r a t e g y 
Plan 2010-2030’,  ‘National 
Strategy for Responsible 
Sustainable Development 
(StaRS)’, and ‘Medium Term 
Development Plan 2018-
2022 ’.  The gover nment 
has set various targets to 
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CEFI is passionate 
about sustainable 

development.

achieve this goal such as reducing GHG emissions, increasing power generation from 
renewable resources and improving disaster monitoring.  The IGFP adds to these policy 
initiatives to move PNG towards a greener economy.



43 CEFI ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Lukautim Graun Project
CEFI entered into a partnership with 
the Lukautim Graun Project (LGP) 
to introduce financial inclusion 
activities to six provinces it works 
in - Eastern Highlands, Jiwaka, 
Madang, Milne Bay, Morobe, and 
Simbu.  The USAID funded project 
aims at reducing the primary drivers 
and threats to biodiversity in PNG 
by strengthening the management 
of customary lands.  The project 
contributes to women prospering 
in the workforce, succeeding as 
entrepreneurs, and enabling and 
fully participating in the economy.  
CEFI facilitated financial literacy 
training to stakeholder and locals 
of project areas.

LGP is implemented by Cardno 
(a DT Global Company), with a 
consortium of four partners at the 
national, regional, and local levels: 
The Nature Conser vancy, The 
Woodland Park Zoo’s PNG Tree 
Kangaroo Conservation Program, 
Wildlife Conservation Society, and 
CARE International.  The objective 
of LGP is to create an environment 
and facilitate mechanisms through 
which communities, the private 
sector, and government work in 
partnership for the common goals 
of conservation and sustainable 
development; in which customary 
owners have the skills, knowledge, 
and incentives to sustainably 
manage their lands to reduce 
the threats to biodiversity; and 
each level of government has 
the capacity and political will to 
create an enabling environment 
s u p p o r t i n g  b i o d i v e r s i t y 
conservation.

Microfinance Pacific Network
The Microfinance Pasifika Network 
(MFPN) is an alliance of institutions 
c o m m i t t e d  t o  s u p p o r t i n g 
disadvantaged people in the Pacific 
to improve their quality of life, 
through the provision of inclusive 
and sustainable financial services 
such as savings, credit, remittances 
a n d  p a y m e n t  s e r v i c e s ,  a n d 
insurance. MFPN convenes events 
and initiatives, bringing together 
practitioners and stakeholders to 
further develop the microfinance 
sector in the Pacific.

CEFI was appointed as the Secretariat 
of the Microfinance Pacifica Network 
in April 2021. Microfinance Pacifica 
Network consists of members from 
financial institutions operating in 
the Pacific region. Registration of 
the network in PNG is completed. 
Opening of the bank account for the 
network and transfer of remaining 
assets of the network are planned. 
Expansion of the membership, 
setting up of focal points in each 
country and quar terly technical 
webinars are planned.

CEFI looks forward to supporting 
this important network.

Agriculture Commodity 
Boards
CEFI continued to discuss with 
Commodity Boards throughout 
2021 to provide financial literacy 
Training of Trainers programs for 
Agr icul ture ex tension of f icers 
to train the respective forming 
communi t ies .   Discus s ions  to 
establish a par tnership with the 

Other 2021 Collaborations and 
Partnerships
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“ C l o s e  c o o p e r a t i o n 
i s  n e e d e d  b e t w e e n 
o u r  i n s t i t u t i o n s 
a n d  t h e  a c a d e m i c 
community inorder to 
develop the  necessary 
methodologies and to 
create the appropriate 
tools to enable CEFI 
to carry out their work 
effectively.”

Dr. Osbourne Sanida, 
Acting NRI Executive Director

Cof fee industry corporation are 
expected in 2022.

Papua New Guinea National 
Research Institute
T h e  P N G  N a t i o n a l  R e s e a r c h 
Ins t i tute (PNG NRI)  agreed to 
assist CEFI and facilitate research 
into the country’s economic and 
social development, with a special 
focus on the role of education and 
financial inclusion in development, 
and the impact of economic and 
social change. Exchange of research 
staff, joint research partnerships, 
and co-hosting of seminars and 
workshops to disseminate research 
findings through networks of both 
organizations will be a part of this 
partnership.

The agreement reflects the mutual 
value both institutions hold in terms 
of extension and strengthening of 
research exchange for the general 
benefit of Papua New Guinea. The 
partnership signals new research 
grounds into the country’s economic 
and social development, with special 
focus on the role of education in 
development, and the impact of 

economic and social change on 
education.

Department of Community 
Development 

CEFI pursued a partnership with 
the Department of Community 
Development aimed at exploring 
opportunities to deliver financial 
inclusion services to the PNG 
Informal Sector in 201. CEFI intends 
to provide Training of Trainer’s 
programs in three (3) Districts - 
Imbongu, Gazelle, and Biala - to 
kick start implementation.
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Our Stakeholders

CEFI maintains strategic 
partnerships with a range 
of national stakeholders, 
including industry, donor 
and training par tners, 
and the Government 
of Papua New Guinea. 
With the support of our 
stakeholders, we strive 
to develop the growth of 
financial inclusion across 
the country. 

Here aew some of the 
m a n y  o r g a n i s a t i o n s 
par tnering with CEDI 
a d v a n c e  f i n a n c i a l 
inclusionin PNG.

BANK OF PAPUA NEW GUINEA

ASIA DEVELOPMENT BANK

GLOBAL GREEN 
GROWTH INSTITUTE

INSTITIUTE OF BANKING 
& BUSINESS STUDIES 

Founding Members

Members

KINA BANK

Technical & Development Partners

CARDNO

BANK SOUTH PACIFIC
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MARKET FOR VILLAGE 
FARMERS PROJECT

WOMEN ENTREPRENEURS 
FINANCE INITIATIVE

NEW IRELAND GOVERNMENT

WOMEN’S MICRO BANK KADA POROMAN 
MICROFINANCE

EAST NEW BRITAIN 
SAVINGS & LOANS SOCIETY

MIBANK 
(NATIONWIDE 
MICROBANK)
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CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION 

ASSOCIATION INC. 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS – 31ST DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 
The Directors of CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION ASSOCIATION 
INC. have pleasure in presenting their annual report together with the statement of financial position and 
the income and expenditure statement for the year ended 31st December 2021 
 
 
DIRECTORS 
The following persons served on the board of directors at the date of this annual report. 
 
Benny Popoitai 
Michael Tumbo Kumung        
Saliya Ranasinghe   
Mark Baker 
Paulus Laveil  
Sweta Sud   
Roddie Wada    
Tony Westaway 
Garima Tongia  
Jerry Ubase 
 
 
    
 
RESULTS 
The operating deficit for the year amounted to K287,365 (2020: K538,977 Surplus-restated). 
 
 
AUDITOR 
The Association’s financial statements have been audited by Raja & Associates and should be read in 
conjunction with the Independent Audit Report set out on pages 3&4. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
The principal activity of CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION 
ASSOCIATION INC. is to promote financial inclusion in PNG through a dedicated Financial Inclusion 
Strategy.   
 
 
Signed at Port Moresby 

 
 

This………………………. day of ………………………………….. 2022 
 
 
 
..........................                 ..........................     
Mr. Benny BM Popoitai MBE                                                    Mr. Garima Tongia 
Chairman                                                                                     Executive Director 
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CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION 

ASSOCIATION INC. 

STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTORS 

 

 

In the opinion of the Directors of CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION 
ASSOCIATION INC.:-  
 

         (a) the Statement of Income is drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the results of the 
operations of the Association for the year ended 31st December 2021, 

  (b) the Statement of Financial Position is drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 
affairs of the Association as at 31st December 2021, 

   (c) the statement of cash flows is drawn up to exhibit a true and fair view of the movements in 
cash of the Association for the year ended 31st December 2021, 

(d) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association 
will be able to pay their debts as and when they fall due. 

      

 

 

 
          Signed at Port Moresby 

 
 
 
 

         This ………31st …………… day of …August ………………………2022 
 
 
 
                                                                               

.......................... 
Mr. Benny BM Popoitai MBE 
Chairman 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………. 
Mr. Garima Tongia 
Executive Director 
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Raja &Associates   
 REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, AUDITORS, MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS & TAX AGENTS 

Suite G, Ground Floor, 
         Cuthbertson House, Port Moresby 

P.O. Box 3312, BOROKO,  
NCD, Papua New Guinea 
Phone : (675) 320 0740/76860031(M) 
Email: 
kuhaseelanr@rajaandassociatespng.com 
      and/or kuhaseelanr@gmail.com 
 www. rajaandassociatespng.com 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON  
CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION’S (CEFI)  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021. 
 
Unqualified Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial statements of Centre for Excellence in Financial Inclusion (CEFI), 
which comprises the statement of Financial Position as at 31st December 2021, the Statement of Income, 
Statement of Cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of CEFI 
 

i.  are properly drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of CEFI as at 31 
December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended on 
that date;  

ii. the books of account and other records examined by us have been properly kept and; 
iii. we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and requested. 

 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of CEFI in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Papua Guinea, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements  
 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as the Directors 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, Directors are responsible for assessing  CEFI’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Directors either intends to liquidate CEFI or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
The Directors are responsible for overseeing  CEFI’s financial reporting process.  

52CEFI ANNUAL REPORT 2021 

FINANCIAL 
REPORT 

for the year ended 31st 
December 2021

REPORT OF THE 
AUDITORS

CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL 
INCLUSION ASSOCIATION INC.



  

4 
 

 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in  
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of CEFI’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on  CEFI’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause  CEFI to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves a true and fair view.  

 
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
  

 
 Dated this …….  day of ………………2022. 
 Raja & Associates 
 
 
 
 
 
Kuhaseelan Rajadurai 
Registered Auditor 
Registered under the Accountants Act 1996 
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Restated
Notes 2021 2020

K K
INCOME

Grants 9 &11 6,267,849        4,947,906        -                      -                      

EXPENDITURE
Consultancy fees 1,190,723        783,830           
Depreciation 233,138           189,650           
Staff associated costs 1,880,562        2,166,392        
Finance expenses 545                  994                  
Other operating expenses 5,141,169        2,552,393        -                      -                      

7,255,414        4,909,429        -                      -                      

OTHER INCOME
Management fee 524,244           201,964           
Consulting fees 127,036           248,467           
Gain on sale of fixed asset -                      50,000             
Interest & Other receipts 48,920             69                    -                      -                      

700,200           500,500           -                      -                      

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (287,365)K      538,977K        -                      -                      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Restated
NOTES 2021 2020

ASSOCIATION FUNDS
Surplus of funds 4 915,053           1,202,633        -                       -                       

SURPLUS OF ASSOCIATION FUNDS 915,053K        1,202,633K    -                       -                       

Represented by:-

ASSETS

CURRENT
Cash on hand and at bank 1,756,353        3,114,798        
Receivables 5 573,011           446,008           -                       -                       

2,329,364        3,560,806        -                       -                       

NON CURRENT
Fixed assets 6 304,816           534,812           -                       -                       

304,816           534,812           -                       -                       

TOTAL ASSETS 2,634,180        4,095,618        -                       -                       

LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Payables 7 188,237           192,478           
Donor Funds 11 1,438,953        2,520,550        
Lease liability - current portion 8 56,367             61,953             -                       -                       

1,683,557        2,774,981        -                       -                       
NON CURRENT
Lease liability - noncurrent portion 8 35,569             118,004           -                       -                       

35,569             118,004           -                       -                       
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,719,127        2,892,985        -                       -                       
NET ASSETS 915,053K        1,202,633K    -                       -                       

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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restated
NOTE 2021 2020

K K

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from members and sponsors 5,799,621        6,217,821       
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (7,066,903)       (4,479,916)      -                       -                      

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10 (1,267,282)       1,737,905       -                       -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of fixed assets (40,137)            (253,707)         
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets -                       50,000            -                       -                      

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (40,137)            (203,707)         -                       -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of lease liability (51,026)            (25,747)           -                       -                      

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (51,026)            (25,747)           -                       -                      

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,358,445)       1,508,451       

Cash and equivalents at the beginning 
of the year 3,114,798        1,606,347       -                       -                      

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,756,353K     3,114,798K    -K                    -K                   

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS ARE COMPRISED OF 
THE FOLLOWING:

Cash on hand -                       1,500              
Debit card 777                  16,142            
MVF Account 11 1,438,953        2,520,550       
CEFI Account 316,623           576,606          -                       -                      

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,756,353K     3,114,798K    -K                    -K                   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Historical Cost Convention

(b) Recognition of Revenue and Expenditure

(c) Cash

(d) Fixed assets

The principal annual rates in use are:-

Motor vehicles 30.00%
Office equipment 30.00%
Furniture, fixture and fittings 11.25%

- 8 -
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2021

These financial statements comply with applicable financial reporting standards and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements approved for use in Papua New Guinea by the
Accounting Standards Board (ASB).

The fundamental accounting assumptions recognised as appropriate for the measurement and
reporting of results, cashflows and the financial position have been followed in the preparation of
these financial statements.

ASSOCIATION INC.

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The carrying amount of fixed
assets is reviewed periodically by the directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable
amount of those assets.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method so as to write off the new costs of the
various classes of fixed assets during their effective working lives. Additions are depreciated
from the date of purchase in the year of acquisition.

Unless otherwise stated, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
year.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and have not
been adjusted to take account of the current costs of specific assets of their impact on the
operating results, or changes in the general purchasing power of the kina.

All revenue and expenditure is taken to account in accordance with the principle of matching
income and expenses.

For the purpose of the cash flow, cash includes cash on hand and current accounts in banks,
net of bank overdrafts. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash. 

Grant from Fresh Produce Development Agency (FPDA) is treated as deferred income/Donor
Funds on the balance sheet as a liability until the entity receiving the grant income incurs
eligible expenditure, which the grant then covers..

57 CEFI ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FINANCIAL 
REPORT 

for the year ended 31st 
December 2021

NOTES 
TO THE 

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL 
INCLUSION ASSOCIATION INC.



1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Right-of-use assets (ROU assets)

(f) Comparatives

(g) Impairment of Assets

(h) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

A ROU asset is recognised in relation to a lease which exceeds 1 year with material payments. 
It is initially measured at cost comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made before the commencement date (reduced by lease
incentive received), plus initial direct costs incurred in obtaining the lease and an estimate of
costs to be incurred in dismantling and removing any underlying asset, restoring the site on
which its located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

- 9 -

CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION
ASSOCIATION INC.

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2021

A ROU asset is subsequently measured using the cost model less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The ROU asset is depreciated over its
useful life which is the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to current disclosures
and reclassification of balances.  

The Association assesses impairment at each reporting date evaluating conditions specific to
the associaton that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the
receivable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in
assessing reasonable amounts incorporate key estimates.  

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In which case it is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables
are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position. Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The
GST component of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Lease liabilities

2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Liquidity risk

(b) Fair value estimation

(c)  Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Price risk
The Association is not exposed to significant price risk.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

- 10 -

CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2021

The Association’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks as follows: -

The Association maintains sufficient cash to meet all future commitments.

The Association has no significant interest-bearing deposits and the Association’s income and
operating cash flows are subsequently independent of changes in market interest rates.

ASSOCIATION INC.

The Association has no borrowings which attract interest.

The estimated fair values of the Association’s financial assets and liabilities are equivalent to their
carrying values as listed in these financial statements.

The Association does not operate internationally and therefore is not exposed to foreign exchange
risk.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Association recognises lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments less any lease incentives receivables and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Association. Accordingly, the lease liability calculations
do not take into account any future increments in rental payments unless the increments are
contractually fixed.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Association uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term or a change in
the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Credit risk

The Association has no significant exposure to credit risk.

3 TAXATION

Restated
2021 2020

K K
4 ASSOCIATION FUNDS

Opening balance 1,202,633        663,656           
Prior period adjustments (214)                
Net surplus/ (deficit)  for the year (287,365)         538,977           -                      -                      
Closing balance 915,053           1,202,633        -                      -                      

5 RECEIVABLES
Goods and services tax -                  37,395             
BPNG Grant receivable 375,000           375,000           
Management fee receivable 40,172             -                  
Financial Sector Development Strategy 127,387           -                  
Prepaid expenses 6,696               -                  
Staff 23,756             33,613             -                      -                      

573,011           446,008           -                      -                      

6 FIXED ASSETS
Cost 01.01.2021 Modifications Additions Disposals 31.12.2021

K K K K K
Motor vehicle 270,000        -                   270,000           
Office equipment 324,333        40,137         -                         364,470           
Furniture, fixture and fittings 4,964            -                         4,964               
Right of use (ROU) asset* 205,704        (36,995)         -                         168,709           -                    -                   -                      -                      

805,001        40,137         -                      808,143           -                    -                   -                      -                      
Accumulated depreciation 01.01.2021 Deprec. exp Disposals 31.12.2021
Motor vehicle 126,962        81,001         207,963           
Office equipment 111,896        97,212         209,106           
Furniture, fixture and fittings 3,533            381              3,914               
Right of use asset 27,798          54,546         82,344             -                    -                   -                      -                      

270,189        233,140       -                      503,327           -                    -                   -                      -                      

Net book value at 31.12.2021 304,816           -                      
Net book value at 31.12.2020 534,812           -                      
*ROU Asset reduced due to lease modification due to decrease in lease payments

- 11 -
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ASSOCIATION INC.

The Association should be exempt from income tax under Section 27 (c) of the Income Tax Act of Papua New
Guinea 1959 as amended. At the date of this report, an application for exemption is in the process of being
lodged.
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2021 2020
K K

7 PAYABLES
Trade creditors 20,000           20,000        
Salary and wages tax 76,362           73,691        
Audit fees and others 18,920           7,450          
Superannuation 24,741           36,927        
Accruals 48,214           54,410        -                     -                  

188,237         192,478      -                     -                  
8 LEASE LIABILITY

As at 1 January 179,957         205,704      
Adjustment for lease modification (36,995)          -              
Accretion of interest 11,999           6,403          
Payments (63,024)          (32,150)       -                     -                  
As at 31 December 91,937           179,957      -                     -                  
Lease liability is composed of:
Lease liability - current 56,367           61,953        
Lease liability - noncurrent 35,569           118,004      

91,937           179,957      

borrowing rate of 10.00%.

Due to revised lease payments in 2021, lease liability was modified

9 GRANTS

Bank of Papua New Guinea (BPNG)
BPNG grants 1,500,000      1,924,648   
In-kind contributions 1,686,252      1,916,800   -                     -                  

3,186,252      3,841,448   -                     -                  
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2021

The Association receives funding from independent donors 

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Association recognised a liability in respect of its operating lease 
for its office. The lease liability was measured at the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Association used the incremental
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2021 2020
K K

10 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Reconciliation of operating activity cash flow and net surplus/(deficit)

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (287,365)            163,977        
Non cash flow items
Prior year adjustment (214)                   -                
Depreciation 233,138             189,650        
Gain on sale of fixed asset -                     (50,000)         
Movement in working capital
Increase in receivables (86,832)              214,306        
Decrease/(Increase) in payables (1,126,009)         1,219,972     -                         -                   
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities (1,267,282)         1,737,905     

11 DONOR FUNDS- MVF, (Sub Project)

Opening Funds available- 1st January 2,520,550          1,326,135     
Grant received in year 
Grant -Fresh Produce Development Agency-(FPDA) 2,000,000          2,300,873     

Total Fund available 4,520,550          3,627,008     

Funds utilised(grant recognised) in year (see note below) 3,081,597          1,106,458     

Fund available as at 31st December as per MVF Bank account 1,438,953          2,520,550     

Reconciled as follows:

Expenses as per Income & Expenses statement(MVF) (3,116,425)         (1,100,826)   

Less: Depreciation 65,757               33,428         
Add/(Less): prior period adjustment (6,797)               6,946           
Increase/(decrease) in debtors (4,700)               (10,230)        
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 46,471               10,775         
Add: purchase of fixed assets (14,878)             (20,803)        
Payment of lease liability (51,026)             (25,748)        

Funds utilised in year (3,081,597)        (1,106,458)   
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2021 2020
K K

12 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION
- Audit 13,970              7,450                  
- Other services 4,950                -                      -                   -                      

18,920              7,450                  -                   -                      

13 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

The receipt of Grants from FPDA has been treated as liability and recognised as Income only
when utilized. 
BPNG grant of fourth quarter Grant was not recognised in year 2020.
The effects  of the above resulted in changing comparatives in accordance with IAS 8-
Accounting policies, Changes in accounting  estimates and errors.
The changes are shown below;

2020 
(K)

Increase in receivables (375,000)             
Increase in Association Funds 375,000              

Recognition of Donor unused Funds (liability) due to receipt of FPDA grant 2,300,873           
Recognition of Income for funds used in year 1,106,458           
Decrease in Association Funds (1,194,415)          

Net effect on Association Funds (819,415)             

14 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

15 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

16 POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS

Other than the transaction mentioned above, the Association had no related party transactions during the year.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities which would materially affect these
financial statements.

Since the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic in January 2020, the Papua New Guinea Government had imposed
restrictions on the movement of the population and social distancing measures. As a consequence, there had been an
overall downturn in economic activity

At the date of this report, the full effect of the pandemic on the Association’s future operating results or its effect on
the Association’s financial position cannot be reliably estimated. 

Other than the matter referred to in the preceding paragraph, the directors are not aware of any events which occurred
since the end of the financial year to the date of this report which would materially affect these financial statements.
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During the year, the Association paid a salary amounting to K540,000 to one of its directors,
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Restated
Note 2021 2020

K K

INCOME
Grants 9 3,186,252       3,841,448       
Management fee 524,244          201,964          
Consulting fees 127,036          248,467          
Gain on disposal of asset -                      50,000            
Interest & Others 48,920            69                   -                      -                      

3,886,452       4,341,948       -                      -                      
EXPENDITURE

Advertising 10,286            104,552          
Audit 18,920            7,450              
Bad debts 4,050              -                      
Bank fees 375                 543                 
Car rental 5,444              1,800              
Cleaning supplies -                  6,329              
Communication and internet 117,420          115,238          
Computer -                  9,505              
Consultancy 890,111          271,604          
Depreciation 167,381          156,222          
Equipment hire -                  -                      
Freight 72                   720                 
Legal 3,475              21,749            
Membership -                  5,956              
Motor vehicle 26,385            40,012            
Office 37,515            53,848            
Printing and stationery 67,003            28,866            
Prior year expenses 31,356            -                      
Recruitment -                  11,053            
Rent 773,900          773,900          
Repairs and maintenance -                  4,273              
Salaries & Wages 1,410,640       1,945,308       
Special Projects 39,308            -                      
Staff accommodation -                  57,766            
Staff amenities/welfare 78,335            7,314              
Superannuation 107,708          61,069            
Travel and accommodation 72,483            37,623            
Uniforms 14,920            6,873              
Water and electricity -                  1,876              
Website development/update 12,342            4,195              
Workshop, training & conferences 249,560          72,960            -                      -                      
Total Expenses 4,138,989       3,808,603       -                      -                      

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (252,537)K      533,345K       -                      -                      

Appendix I

CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION
ASSOCIATION INC.

STATEMENT OF INCOME & EXPENDITURE - MAIN PROJECT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2021
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(Restated)
2021 2020

K K

INCOME
Grants 3,081,597        1,106,458        -                       -                       

3,081,597        1,106,458        -                       -                       
EXPENDITURE

Advertising 5,331               24,762             
Bank fees 170                  451                  
Car rental 56,736             5,800               
Consultancy 300,612           512,226           
Communication expenses 490                  -                       
Computer accessories 1,815               -                       
Depreciation 65,757             33,428             
Freight 2,153               5,839               
Fuel 5,050               2,100               
Interest - lease liability 11,999             6,403               
Management fee 523,952           196,131           
Office 8,833               2,650               
Other employer expenses 18,184             -                       
Relocation cost -                  3,750               
Repairs and maintenance 16,634             44,917             
Staff amenities -                  500                  
Software -                  -                       
Salaries and wages 266,452           85,277             
Superannuation 17,427             5,409               
Travel and accommodation 178,872           171,183           
Workshops 1,635,958        -                       -                       -                       
Total Expenses 3,116,425        1,100,826        -                       -                       

OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (34,828)K        5,632K            -                       -                       

Appendix II

CENTRE FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL INCLUSION
ASSOCIATION INC.

STATEMENT OF INCOME & EXPENDITURE - SUB PROJECT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2021
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